Earth Negotiations Bulleti ﬁ

A Reporting Servicefor Environment and Devel opment Negotiations

Vol. 4 No. 138

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 29 November 1999

SUMMARY OF THE THIRD CONFERENCE OF
THE PARTIESTO THE CONVENTION TO
COMBAT DESERTIFICATION:

15-26 NOVEMBER 1999

Delegatesto the Third Conference of the Parties (COP-3) to the
UN Convention to Combat Desertification (CCD) met in Recife,
Brazil, from 15-26 November 1999. The Committee on Science and
Technology (CST) metin parallel to the COP from 16-19 November.
Delegates approved the long-negotiated Memorandum of Under-
standing between the COP and the I nternational Fund for Agricultural
Development (IFAD) regarding the Convention’s Global Mechanism,
welcomed progress made on adraft implementation annex for Central
and East European countries, and created ad hoc panelsto undertake
intersessional work to facilitate the CST’s consideration of traditional
knowledge and early warning systems, among other decisions.

The general mood of those participants still at the Pernambuco
Conference Center when the meeting adjourned at 2:10 amon
Saturday, 27 November, however, was one of disappointment dueto
the missed opportunities and tensions that pervaded the meeting.
Many participants cameto Recife expecting to discuss and review
CCD implementation, based on the impressive number of national
reports submitted to COP-3 by African country Parties. Instead, dele-
gatesfound themselvesfocused on questionsrelated to the structure of
the Convention, primarily therole of the Secretariat and the proce-
dures and mechanismsto review implementation in the future. The
discussions on the Secretariat’s role took placein the context of deci-
sions on the medium-term strategy of the Secretariat and the
programme and budget. On the review of implementation in the
future, delegates considered a proposal to create anew committee to
that end and another on issuesto be addressed in the national reports.

Some believed that the tensionsand mistrust generated during the
meeting may have set back the Convention and itstradition of astrong
spirit of partnership. COP-4 is scheduled to receive reports on imple-
mentation in the Latin American and the Caribbean, Asian and the
Northern M editerranean regions, so afull review and trueturning
point in thelife of the Convention, from establishing structuresto
implementing the Convention, may have to wait until COP-5. Yet
some believe that theimplementation of the RecifeInitiative, which
callson COP-4 to adopt adeclaration on commitments, may provide
an opportunity to revitalizethe CCD processes.

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE CONVENTION

The Convention to Combat Desertification was adopted on 17
June 1994 and was opened for signature in October 1994 in Paris. It
entered into force on 26 December 1996. To date, 159 countries have
ratified or acceded to the CCD. The Convention recognizes: the phys-
ical, biological and socio-economic aspects of desertification; the
importance of redirecting technology transfer so that it isdemand-
driven; and theinvolvement of local populations. The core of the CCD
isthe devel opment of national and subregional/regional action
programmes by national governmentsin cooperation with donors,
local populationsand NGOs.

NEGOTIATION OF THE CONVENTION: In 1992, the UN
General Assembly, asrequested by the United Nations Conference on
Environment and Development (UNCED), adopted Resolution 47/
188 calling for the establishment of the I ntergovernmental Negotiating
Committeefor the elaboration of aconvention to combat desertifica-
tion in those countries experiencing serious drought and/or desertifica-
tion, particularly in Africa(INCD). The INCD met five times between
May 1993 and June 1994, during which delegates drafted the Conven-
tion and four regional annexesfor Africa, Asia, Latin Americaand the
Caribbean, and the Northern Mediterranean.

THE INTERIM PERIOD: Pending the CCD'sentry into force,
the INCD met six times between January 1995 and August 1997 to
hear progress reports on urgent action taking placein Africaand
interim measuresin other regionsand to prepare for COP-1. The prep-

INTHISISSUE

A Brief History of theConvention. .................... 1
J COP-BReport. .. ..o 2
Plenary Deliberations .......................... 2
Committeeof theWhole .. ...................... 4
Committee on Scienceand Technology. . ........... 9
Recifelnitiative. . ........... ... . ... . ... 11
Inter-Parliamentary Round Table . ............... 11
ClosingPlenary . ..., 1

A Brief Analysisof COP-3. . ........................ 12
Thingsto Look For BeforeCOP-4.................... 13

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Angela Churie <achurie@yahoo.com>, Jan-Stefan Fritz <j.fritz@lse.ac.uk>, Mark
Schulman <markschulman@hotmail.com> and Lynn Wagner, Ph.D. <lynn@iisd.org>. TheEditor isPamelaChasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor isL angston
James “Kimo” Goree <kimo@iisd.org>. Digital editing by LeilaMead <leila@interport.net>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign
Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape, the United Kingdom
Department for International Development (DFID) and the European Commission (DG-X1). General Support for the Bulletin during 1999 is provided by the German Federa
Ministry of Environment (BMU) and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Ministries of Environment
and Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Environment of Finland, the
Government of Sweden, the United Nations Devel opment Programme (UNDP), the Global Environment Facility (GEF) and the Ministry for the Environment in Iceland. Specific
funding for this meeting has been provided by the UNFCCC Secretariat. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212- 644-0204; fax: +1-212-
644-0206. 11SD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the
Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD and other funders. Excerptsfrom the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used
in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor.
Electronic versions are sent to e-mail distribution listsand can be found on the LinkagesWWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satelliteimage was taken above Brazil
©1999 The Living Earth, Inc., http://livingearth.com. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 29 November 1999

3

Earth NegotiationsBulletin

Vol. 4 No. 138 Page 2

arationsincluded discussion of the Secretariat’s programme and
budget, the functions of and administrative arrangementsfor the
Global Mechanism and the establishment of the CST. Although
considerable progresswas made, especially on scientific and techno-
logical cooperation, someimportant issues, such asthesizeand
membership of the COP Bureau, questions about the host institutions
and somefunctions of the Global M echanism, remained unresolved.

COP-1: TheFirst Conference of the Parties (COP-1) metin Rome,
Italy, from 29 September to 10 October 1997. The CST held itsfirst
session simultaneously on 2-3 October. The COP-1 and CST-1
agendas contained primarily organizational matters. Delegates
selected Bonn, Germany, asthe location for the Permanent Secretariat
and the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) as
the organi zation to administer the Global Mechanism. Atthe CST’s
recommendation, the COP established an ad hoc panel to overseethe
continuation of the process of surveying benchmarks and indicators
and decided that CST-2 would consider linkages between traditional
knowledge and modern technol ogy. One Plenary meeting was devoted
to adialogue between NGOs and del egates. Del egates subsequently
adopted aproposal that Plenary meetings at future COPs be devoted to
similar NGO dialogues.

COP-2: The Second Conference of the Parties (COP-2) metin
Dakar, Senegal, from 30 November to 11 December 1998. The CST
met in parallel to the COPfrom 1-4 December. Delegates approved
arrangementsfor theinstitutional linkage between the Convention and
the UN Secretariat and the headquarters agreement with the German
Government, where the CCD Secretariat moved in early 1999. The
COP approved adjustmentsto its budget and adopted the outstanding
rulesof procedure concerning bureau members, but retained bracketed
language regarding majority voting absent consensus. East and Central
European countrieswereinvited to submit to COP-3 adraft regional
implementation annex. The CST established an ad hoc panel to
follow-up its discussion on links between traditional and modern
knowledge. Delegates considered, but deferred to COP-3, decisionson
the Secretariat’s medium-term strategy, adoption of the Memorandum
of Understanding between the COP and I FAD regarding the Global
M echanism, and the G-77/Chinaproposal to establish aCommittee on
the Review of the Implementation of the Convention.

COP-3REPORT

The Third Conference of the Partiesto the Convention to Combat
Desertification opened with awelcoming ceremony on Monday after-
noon, 15 November 1999. Marco Antonio de OliveiraMaciel, Acting
President of Brazil, and several other Brazilian and UN officials
welcomed participantsto the meeting. Maciel highlighted his
country’s commitment to the environment and promotion of sustain-
able development. Roberto Magalhdes Melo, Mayor of the City of
Recife, noted the relevance of holding COP-3in aregion affected by
drought and desertification. José Sarney Filho, Brazilian Minister for
the Environment, expressed hope that this Convention would bean
instrument through which desertification could be combatted and the
affected regionsassisted in economic development. Jarbas de Andrade
Vasconcel os, Governor of Pernambuco, emphasi zed the importance of
all countries coming together in the common struggle to improvethe
quality of lifefor peopleliving in some of the driest parts of the Earth.

Theo-Ben Gurirab, President of the UN General Assembly,
welcomed the 159 ratifications, highlighted the proactiverol e of
African countriesinimplementing the Convention, and called on other
countriesto emulate Africa’sinitiative. CCD Executive Secretary
Hama ArbaDiallo emphasized that the CCD isnot only about rehabili-
tating natural resources, but isalso amultilateral instrument for

reducing poverty and fostering sustainable development. Following
the welcoming ceremony, COP-2 President Souty Touré (Senegal)
opened the Plenary session and noted the commitment of the imple-
menting bodies of the Convention and said the number of accessions
indicatethat Partiesare on theright track to reverse the effects of
desertification. Delegatesthen elected by acclamation José Sarney
Filho as President of COP-3.

Sarney Filho then introduced agendaitem 3, the adoption of the
agendaand organization of work (ICCD/COP(3)/1 and Corr.1).
Canada proposed that theinclusion of NGOsinthe official programme
occur during the first week to ensure that their inputs provide amore
meaningful contribution to the COP’s deliberations. An NGO session
was subsequently moved from the second week to the first Friday.
With this change, del egates adopted the agenda and programme of
work.

Sarney Filho then announced the nominationsfor other officersto
the Bureau, including the CST Chair, and reminded del egatesthat the
Rules of Procedure call for nine Vice-Presidentsand a Chair of the
CST along with the President, and that every geographical region
should be represented by at |east two members. The nominationswere
asfollows. Pascal Yoadimnadji (Chad); Koffi Santy Sany Adade
(Togo); Abdul Hamid Al-Munajed (Syria); Ali Bin Saad Altokhais
(Saudi Arabia); Lazea Gheorghe (Romania); Jafarov Ogtay (Azer-
baijan); Maria Ant6niaMasana (Peru); Sange de Silva (Canada); and
Victor Louro (Portugal). Louro also served as Rapporteur. The nomi-
nation for CST Chair was Moses Munemo (Zimbabwe). Delegates
agreed to establish a Committee of the Whole (COW) to consider the
proposal for an additional annex, outstanding Rules of Procedure, and
annexes on arbitration and conciliation procedures, among other
issues. John Ashe (Antiguaand Barbuda) was designated asits Chair
and wasinvited to attend meetings of the Bureau.

Delegates then considered the documentation regarding accredita-
tion of non-governmental and intergovernmental organizations
(ICCD/COP(3)/15 and Add.1) and accredited one new international
organization (ECOWAS/CEDEAO, Economic Community of West
African States’Communauté économique des Etats de |’ Afrique de
I’ Ouest) aswell as59 NGOs.

PLENARY DELIBERATIONS

STATEMENTSBY PARTIES, OBSERVERSAND INTER-
NATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS: Parties, observers, UN agencies,
international organizations and NGOs offered opening statementson
Tuesday, 16 November. CCD Executive Secretary Dialo drew atten-
tion to the National Action Programmes (NAPs), aswell as Regional
and Subregional Action Programmes (RAPs and SRAPs), that many
Parties had formul ated.

Guyana, on behalf of the G-77/China, emphasized theimportant
role the Global Mechanism should play, especially in the area of part-
nership-building and mobilizing financial resourcesat country,
regional and subregional levels. She also underlined the need to inte-
gratetheregional coordinating unitsin Africa, Asia, Latin America
and the Caribbean into the budget. She noted the need to strengthen
relationships with other relevant conventions, international organiza-
tions, institutions and agencies and said CCD implementation will
depend largely on the CST' s ability to provide the COP with relevant
information and advice.

Finland, on behalf of the EU, welcomed the African national
reports asvaluabl e sources of gained experienceand lessonslearnedin
combatting desertification. He stressed the need to work construc-
tively without losing sight of the overriding theme of reviewing CCD



Voal. 4 No. 138 Page 3

3

Monday, 29 November 1999

implementation. He al so stressed the need to mainstream devel opment
strategiesin affected countries and to ensure synergieswith other
conventions.

Benin, on behalf of the African Group, called for aCOP-3 decision
to establish acommittee to review the implementation of the conven-
tion and highlighted the need for amedium-term strategy for the Secre-
tariat. Lesotho, Colombiaand several other countries underlined the
need for financia assistance in developing countries and that the
Global Mechanism should support the el aboration of national reports
and action programmes. The Republic of Koreaand others added the
need for capacity building, technical assistance and partnershipsin
combatting desertification and stressed the important rolelocal and
international NGOs play in NAP implementation.

A number of representatives from internationa organizationsalso
addressed the COP. The League of Arab States, the Organization of
French Speaking Countriesand the FAO outlined their activitiesto
combat drought and desertification. The Ramsar Convention on
Wetlands highlighted existing synergieswith the CCD. UNDP stressed
theimportant role of civil society and the need to promote |ocal gover-
nance and grassroots support. UNESCO announced the signing of a
Memorandum of Understanding with the CCD to collaboratein the
areas of science, education and culture.

SPECIAL SEGMENT: The Special Segment convened from
Monday to Wednesday, 22-24 November, during which 96 officials
spoke, including 27 Ministers and Deputy Ministers, three heads of
UN agencies and three heads of international organizations. On
Tuesday, 23 November, delegatesreceived areport by Senator Grant
Chapman (Australia) on the I nter-Parliamentary Round Table and took
note of itsdeclaration.

In hiswelcoming statement, CCD Executive Secretary Diallo
noted that, while previous COPs addressed mechanismsfor implemen-
tation, COP-3isthefirst to consider national reportson CCD imple-
mentation. COP-3 President Sarney Filho expressed Brazil’s hope for
aRecife Mandate that includes a declaration of commitmentsfor the
next 10 yearsfocusing on energy, water management, reforestation
and afforestation, traditional knowledge, early warning systems and
indicatorsto assess CCD implementation.

UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer, on behalf of UN Secre-
tary-Genera Kofi Annan, said it would be amistake to say the CCD
concernsonly developing countries, givenitslinksto climate change,
biodiversity, famine and social and political conflict. On behalf of
UNER, Topfer underlined the close linkages between desertification
and poverty, and stressed that strategies to improve the environment
should build on the wisdom of women and cooperation with all stake-
holders.

IFAD President Fawzi Al-Sultan noted that had |FAD been aware
that the Global Mechanism would beinadequately funded, it would
have withdrawn its bid to house the mechanism. Global Environment
Facility (GEF) CEO Mohamed El-Ashry drew attention to the GEF's
new operational programme for integrated ecosystem management
and to anew partnership forged with itsimplementing agencieson
land and water degradation with initial emphasison Africa.

In their presentations, speakers addressed numerousissues
including: the Global Mechanism and financing for convention imple-
mentation, therole of civil society, links between desertification and
poverty, synergies between the Rio conventions and the globalization
of the Convention.

The G-77/Chinanoted that devel oping country Partiesplaceahigh
priority on their responsibilities and expressed hope that the devel oped
countries' failureto participate at senior Ministerial levels doesnot
reflect afaltering of political will. Burkina Faso expressed dismay that

during thefirst week of COP-3, many countries seemed to shrug-off
commitments made during the negotiation of the Convention. Comité
Permanent Inter-Etats de L utte contre la Sécheresse dans | e Sahel
(CILSS) regretted thelow level of participation at the COP by many
countries.

Many countries stressed that more resources need to be made avail -
able through the Global Mechanism. Switzerland said theimplementa-
tion of NAPsdepends on the Global Mechanism’sroleasan
intermediary and cautioned the COP against micro-managing it and
adopting bureaucratic decisionsthat will incur high administrative
costs. Mauritaniasuggested that the Global M echanism should have
three units, onefor each affected region, and should organize regular
meetingsin each African subregion to elaborate on the operational
modalitiesand facilitate accessto funds. Botswanasaid that the Global
M echanism had not lived up to expectations and asked devel oped
countriesto “refrain from moving the goal-posts whenever the ball is
inour control.”

Concerning financesfor implementation, the EU and Denmark
stressed using existing institutions and mechanisms, including the
GEF. Benin, Tunisiaand others suggested that the GEF should operate
asthefinancing mechanism for al Rio conventions. Germany noted
that one of the CCD’s greatest challenges wasto integrate into estab-
lished foraof bilateral and multilateral development cooperation and
emphasized therole of chef defile asan important meansto coordinate
and raise funds. Norway noted that OECD countriesare further from
the goal of 0.7% of GNP for official development assistance (ODA)
than they werein 1992 and said that, while some point to the
increasing role of privateinvestment, these fundstend not to reach the
poorest and most fragile environments. Pakistan noted that devel oped
countries have an important responsibility to support CCD implemen-
tation in devel oping countries, and devel oping countries have an obli-
gation to find financial and technical support from the private and non-
governmental sectors. Zimbabwe noted that its effortsto combat
desertification had invol ved finding domestic funding sources,
including national and local governmental bodies, NGOs and the
private sector.

Benin, Cape Verde, Togo and others underscored the need for
effective coordination between the Global Mechanism and the Secre-
tariat. Ghana, Morocco and Burundi recommended strengthening the
Secretariat to enableit to fulfill itsmandate and called for the approval
of itsbudget. Myanmar said regional coordinating unitswould play an
important rolein promoting regional coordination and effective RAP
implementation. Tajikistan appeal ed to the Secretariat for financial
support to organize a coordinating meeting in Bangkok for the Asian
region. Palau called on the CCD Secretariat to hold aregional meeting
for small isand States. Malawi, Mali, and Zambia stressed the impor-
tance of reviewing and eval uating implementation and supported
creating acommitteeto do so. Sweden expressed concern over
proposals for subsidiary bodiesand the Secretariat’sinvolvement in
work beyond assisting countriesin elaborating their NAPs.

Experiencesfrom Convention implementation at the national and
regional levelswere also addressed by many delegates. Kenyasaid the
African national reportswere produced cost effectively and provide
useful experiencesto other regions. The UK emphasized using
national reportsto examine lessonslearned and plan actionsfor the
future. The Arab Maghreb Union, African Development Bank (ADB),
Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD) and other orga-
nizations highlighted their contributionsto assisting countriesin
implementing NAPs.



Monday, 29 November 1999

Earth NegotiationsBulletin

Vol. 4 No. 138 Page 4

The Gambiaand others emphasized the need to identify toolsto
integrate strategiesfor poverty eradication. Ghanaand Brazil called on
the WTO to review trade practices having adverse effects on devel -
oping country economies.

CCD implementation was also considered in the context of
promoting democrati zation. Germany highlighted decentralization,
participatory frameworks and the right of civil society asplaying an
important rolein the use of natural resources. Norway highlighted the
necessity of peace, democracy and respect for human rightsfor
sustainable development. Nigerianoted that his new government had
restored freedom of expression and association and moved towards
political stability, which are prerequisitesfor sustainable devel opment.
Malawi encouraged governmentsto strengthen NGOs as a means of
promoting democrati zation.

Several Parties highlighted similarities between the Rio conven-
tions and recognized the benefits of coordinating their implementa-
tion. The EU said the search for synergies should be amajor objective
of national and community-level implementation. Namibia said such
linkages ensure efficient use of resources. The FCCC and CBD noted
opportunitiesfor synergieswith the CCD.

Many countrieswel comed the possible addition of an annex for
Central and Eastern Europe and countries from the region noted their
desire or expectation to ratify the Convention.

RECIFE INITIATIVE: During the Special Segment, Brazil
proposed formulating a Recife Mandate that would call on Partiesto
revisit and reaffirm their commitmentsto the CCD process. Thisdraft
was considered ininformal meetings during the second week of COP-
3, whereby del egates debated the appropriateness of amandate under
the CCD. They agreed instead on aRecife Initiative.

On Friday, 26 November, the COP adopted the Recife Initiative
towards enhancing CCD implementation (ICCD/COP(3)/L.22). The
Initiative callsfor formulating adeclaration of commitmentsat COP-4
to focus on anumber of specific thematic and sectoral areasover an
agreed period of time. It also reiterates the need to adopt measuresto
eradicate poverty; reaffirmsthe need to mobilize financial resources
and promote the transfer of technology and capacity building for
combatting desertification; stresses the need to integrate CCD imple-
mentation into mainstream national development strategies of affected
countries; and emphasi zestheimportance of carrying out further work
on benchmarks and indicators and providing expertise to support CCD
implementation at national, subregional and regional levels. The
Secretariat noted Argentina’s request to take the adopted resolution
into account in the COP-4 programme of work (ICCD/COP(3)/L.11).

DIALOGUE WITH NGOS: The Plenary met on Friday, 19
November, and Wednesday, 24 November, to discuss the inclusion of
NGO activitieswithin the COP’s programme of work. During thefirst
meeting, NGOs presented case studies on institutional -level partner-
ships. Evelyne de Mello Figueiredo, MORABI (Cape Verde), high-
lighted successful partnershipsthat exist between government, NGOs
and civil society, particularly with farmers' associationsand women's
organizations, in the NAP process, but noted the serious problems
NGOsface dueto lack of financing and institutional capacity. Florent
Oueradougou, the Association Desertification Volontaires pour le
Dével oppement (Burkina Faso), emphasized the involvement of all
stakeholdersin the decision-making and implementation process.
JulianaZeidler, the Desert Research Foundation (Namibia), outlined
her organization’'s experiencesin partnership management and
stressed the parti cipation of women and the need for long-term part-
nershipswith stakeholders through community-based organizations.

The EU suggested dedicating more time in the COP’swork
programmeto NGOs. Iceland, Brazil, Syria, Mongoliaand others
encouraged Partiesto ensure broad involvement of civil society stake-
holdersinthe NAP process. Chile commended theroleNGOsplay in
training and awareness campaigns. Mauritaniasaid national
programmes should find financing to reinforce NGO actions. The
African-American |dlamic I nstitute emphasi zed proceduresfor NGOs
to have accessto funding for grassroots desertification projects.

On Wednesday, 24 November, del egates heard presentationson
empowering women’'srolein the NAP process. Ruth Mubiru, RIOD
Women's Caucus (Uganda), urged delegates and partnersto support
programmes for women through capacity building, training, aware-
ness-raising, education and micro-credit loans. Maiga Sina Damba,
AFAD (Mali), identified the need for: devel opment projectsfor
women by women, acquiring visibility in the decision-making process,
promoting decentralized, gender-oriented processes, and accessing
financing mechanismsfor gender awareness. Nagjwaz Essairia, ENDA-
Maghreb (Morocco), stressed theimportance of participatory
processes and equitable gender participation of womeninthe NAP.
EdualdaTorres, Fundagdo Grupo Esquel do Brasil, outlined her orga
nization’s activitiesin disseminating information about the risk of
desertification and noted the importance of instituting apermanent and
interactive rel ationship between NGOs and local, state, and national
governments. Enoch Okpara, Nigeria Environmental Study/Action
Team, noted the need to involve women in the rehabilitation of margin-
aly degraded land, particularly through integrated community
projects. Jacqueline Nkoyok, CONGA C (Cameroon), called for
involving womenin rural areasto combat desertification through
strengthening capacities, educational and informational campaigns,
accessto land resources and decision-making at thelocal level. She
read aWomen’s Declaration for COP-3, stressing the importance of
equitable participation of women inthe CCD and NAP.

Delegates showed general support for the declaration and the need
toinvolvewomen, particularly inrural areas, inthe CCD and NAP
processes. Sweden was pleased to note that the role of women has
maintained alevel of priority in the CCD process since the beginning,
but asked whether the Convention has seen any difference regarding
the status of women. He, along with Mauritaniaand others, noted that
national delegations should include more women.

INCLUSION OF NGO ACTIVITIESWITHIN THE OFFI-
CIAL COP PROGRAMME OF WORK: A draft decisionon
enhancing the participation of NGOsin the COP work programme
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.24) wasintroduced by the EU in Plenary on Friday,
26 November. He noted that consultationswith NGOs and other dele-
gations had been held. The COP adopted the decision, which recog-
nizes the important role NGOs, community-based organizations and
other membersof civil society play intheimplementation of the CCD,
and statesthat they shall be given opportunitiesto expresstheir coordi-
nated views at CCD sessions and in meetings of itssubsidiary bodies.
The decision also invitestheinternational community, particularly
developed countries, to provide support for ensuring greater NGO
participation through bilateral cooperation and through contributions
to the supplementary fund administered by the Secretariat.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

The COW began its deliberations on Tuesday, 16 November, and
met through Wednesday, 24 November. The COW'’s agendaincluded
the programme and budget, outstanding rules of procedure, an addi-
tional regional implementation annex, elaboration of annexes
containing arbitration and conciliation procedures, the Secretariat’s
medium-term strategy, areview of the Globa Mechanism, and proce-
duresfor resolution of questions of implementation. The COW



Voal. 4 No. 138 Page 5

Monday, 29 November 1999

discussed its agendaitems briefly and then continued discussionin
informal consultations. COW Chair John Ashefacilitated consulta-
tions on the programme and budget until Wednesday, 24 November,
following which Torben Mailand Christensen (Denmark) facilitated
discussions. Franklin Moore (US) facilitated discussions on proce-
duresfor review of Convention implementation, cooperation with
other relevant conventionsand institutions, the draft Memorandum of
Understanding between the COP and | FAD and the programme and
work for COP-4. Michael Ellis (UK) facilitated discussionson the
Medium-Term Strategy, arbitration and conciliation, Rule 47 of the
Rules of Procedure and the review of the Global Mechanism. Bo
Kjellén (Sweden) facilitated discussionson the draft decision
regarding an additional regional implementation annex.

PROGRAMME AND BUDGET: The COW considered the
programme and budget for the biennium 2000-2001 and the status of
the extrabudgetary issues on Tuesday, 16 November, and then deferred
discussionsto an informal group facilitated by COW Chair Ashe. The
informal consultationswere conducted from Tuesday, 16 November,
to Wednesday, 24 November, when the COW adopted, with the objec-
tion of the EU, a Chair’sdraft decision. Consultations continued until
Friday, 26 November, on revisionsto the draft decision.

Duringtheirinitial discussion on Tuesday, 16 November, del egates
considering the programme and budget for the biennium 2000-2001
(ICCD/COP(3)/2 and Add.1, ICCD/COP(3)/4 and Add.1 and 2), the
Secretariat underlined the main areas of budget growth asthe need to
provide efficient servicesto Parties, facilitate the preparation of
national reports and strengthen the admini strative capacity of the
Secretariat. She al so noted the proposal to establish additional postsin
2000-2001 and the installation and maintenance in Bonn of the Inte-
grated Management Information System (IM1S).

In the ensuing discussions, the EU said there wasroom to improve
transparency in the budget and called for aclear distinctionin
reporting between activitiesfinanced by the core budget and those by
the extrabudgetary funds. She sought moreinformation on, inter alia,
the share of the Secretariat’s personnel resources allocated to the CST
and the basis for the post requirements proposed by the Secretariat.

The G-77/Chinasuggested mai ntaining the contingency envisaged
for conference costs until the UN General Assembly adopts aresolu-
tion to meet those costs. He sought clarification on, inter alia: the
structure of the budget and itsfailureto integrate the Globa Mecha-
nism’sbudget into the Convention budget; the absencein the budget of
costs associated with the regional coordinating units; and the new and
additional functionsthat require the use of the IMIS. Regarding the
annexed proposed Global M echanism programme and budget, he
noted that some of the activities outlined do not conform with the deci-
sion adopted by COP-1.

Canada, on behalf of JUSCANNZ, called for informal-informal
consultations on the budget. Benin, on behalf of the African Group,
said the budget does not take into account the work of aCommitteeto
Review Implementation of the Convention and requested clarification
on the Global Mechanism resourcesfor 1999 and the need to increase
this budget item in 2000-2001.

The COW also considered briefly the Secretariat’sreport on the
review of the status of extrabudgetary funds (ICCD/COP3/3 and
Add.1) on Tuesday, 16 November. The report describes activitiesand
expenditures under the trust funds during thefirst half of 1999 and
indicates the estimated costs of activitiesto befacilitated during the
remainder of 1999 if sufficient contributions are received. The COW
deferred further consideration of both budgetary issuesto aninformal

group.

During the consultations, the EU and G-77/Chinadiverged over
theincreaseto the Secretariat’s budget. There was al so disagreement
over whether to apply an equal increaseto both the Secretariat’s and
Global Mechanism'’sbudget, if the Global M echanism’sbudget would
be separate from the Secretariat’s, and the reporting requirements for
the Secretariat to the COP.

On Wednesday, 24 November, the COW Chair presented adraft
decision for COW adoption. The EU indicated that it preferred to have
further consultations on the draft. The COW Chair gaveled the adop-
tion, noting the EU’ s objection. The draft decision, inter alia, confirms
the COP’ s authorization for the Executive Secretary to maketransfers
between each of the main appropriation linesin the budget, including
the Global Mechanism, up to an aggregate limit of 15% of the total
expenditure, provided that afurther limitation of up to minus 25% of
each such appropriation line shall apply. It requeststhe Executive
Secretary to report to COP-4 on the financia performance of the
Convention budget and to propose any adjustments that might be
needed for the biennium 2000-2001.

Consultations continued under the chairmanship of Mailand Chris-
tensen (Denmark) during the final COP Plenary, early Saturday
morning, 27 November. Delegatestook note of the consensusin the
informal group and adopted the revised budget without comment. In
thefinal decision (ICCD/COP(3)/L.18/Rev.1), the COP approvesanet
budget amounting to US$12,524,000 for the biennium 2000-2001 and
confirmsits authorization to the Executive Secretary to make transfers
between each of the appropriation linesin the budget with the excep-
tion of the budget line on the Global Mechanism. It also requeststhe
Executive Secretary to, inter alia, report at COP-4 on:

 theneedfor, feasibility of, and modalitiesfor regional coordi-
nating unitsand the costsinvolved with aview to enabling the

COPtotakeadecision;

« thefinancia performance of the Convention budget;
 submit proposalson how the budgeting and reporting process
could beimproved whiletaking into account the developments

and practicesin FCCC and CBD and other relevant intergovern-

mental organi zations and propose any adj ustmentsthat might be

needed for the biennium 2000-2001; and
« thestatusof thetrust funds established under thefinancial rules,
and seek the views of Partieson how thefinancia reportingtothe

COP could beimproved in order to report on thisissue at COP-4.

MEDIUM-TERM STRATEGY: The COW discussed the
Medium-Term Strategy of the Secretariat (ICCD/COP(3)/6) on
Tuesday and Wednesday, 16-17 November. The main components of
the proposed Secretariat’s Medium-Term Strategy included: making
effective arrangementsfor the sessions of the COP; ensuring linkages
with other sister conventions; strengthening public awareness,
ensuring the promotion of cooperation with public and private entities;
contributing to effortsto eradicate poverty; and contributing the
promotion of the role of women and other major groups, including
NGOs.

Canada noted that the Convention does not provide an operational
rolefor the Secretariat, despite some languagein the Medium-Term
Strategy indicating otherwise. Benin, on behalf of the G-77/China,
regretted that there were no specific proposalsto reformulate the
Strategy. Asthisagendaitem was not scheduled for discussion on
Tuesday afternoon, the EU reserved itsright to revisit it after consulta-
tionswithinits group. On Wednesday, 17 November, the COW
continued consideration of the Strategy. The EU stressed that the
Secretariat isnot an implementing body and should not overload itself
with programme activities. He said it should provide core secretariat
activitieswithout duplicating thework of others, cooperate with the



Monday, 29 November 1999

3

Earth NegotiationsBulletin

Vol. 4 No. 138 Page 6

secretariats of other conventions, promote awareness, and facilitate
information dissemination and exchange. Benin drew attentionto a
proposal by the G-77/Chinafor adraft decision and suggested that it
form the starting point for informal consultations. Michael Elliswas
requested to facilitateinformal consultationson thisissue. On
Monday, 22 November, the COW adopted aproposal for adraft deci-
sion prepared by theinformal group. The COP adopted this draft deci-
sion on Friday, 26 November.

Inthefinal decision, the COP takes note of the Secretariat’srevised
Medium-Term Strategy and annexesit to the decision for information.
It emphasi zesthat facilitating the eff ective implementation of the
Convention reguiresastrong and capable secretariat. It requeststhe
Secretariat to: establish prioritiesin its programme of activities; facili-
tate effective assessment of implementation by compiling, summa-
rizing and synthesizing all reports on implementation; and undertake a
review of itsactivities and submit areport to COP-6.

ADDITIONAL PROCEDURESAND MECHANISMSTO
REVIEW THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CONVENTION:
The COW met on Thursday, 18 November, to consider additional
procedures and mechanismsto review theimplementation of the
convention (ICCD/COP(3)/17). It decided to defer theissueto
informal consultationsfacilitated by Franklin Moore, noting that it was
related to other issues being considered informally. Theinformal
group met throughout the second week and reached agreement late on
Friday, 26 November. During the consultations, divergence was
expressed over the necessity of acommittee on implementation under
the Convention.

On Friday, 26 November, the Plenary adopted aresol ution on addi-
tional procedures or institutional mechanismsto assist the COPin
regularly reviewing theimplementation of the Convention (ICCD/
COP(3)/L.23). The decision statesthat an ad hoc working group
should be established at COP-4 to review and analyze reports
submitted at COP-3 and 4. It recallsthat reports by Parties, together
with advice and information provided by the CST and the Global
Mechanism, will bethe basisfor the review of theimplementation of
the Convention at COP-4 and invites Parties and other interested insti-
tutions and organi zations to submit written proposal s on the need to
establish acommittee to review theimplementation of the Convention
no later than 30 April 2000, to be compiled by the Secretariat to facili-
tate consideration, and take adecision at itsfourth and, if necessary, at
itsfifth session.

CONSIDERATION OF REPORTSON IMPLEMENTATION
OF THE CONVENTION: On Friday, 26 November, the Plenary
adopted adraft decision on the consideration of reports on implemen-
tation of the Convention (ICCD/COP(3)/L.13). In thefinal decision,
the COP encourages affected devel oping country Parties, inter alia, to:
strengthen reforms currently in progress towards greater decentraliza-
tion; pursue effortsin implementing the Convention at thelocal level;
strengthen links between national focal pointsand the authorities
responsiblefor devel opment cooperation; and enhance integration of
Convention implementation into national development strategies. It
also recognizesthe important role played by African subregional and
regiona organizationsin theimplementation of RAPsand SRAPsand
recommends that aff ected devel oping country Parties ensure that both
programmes do not implement similar projectsand activities asthose
deriving from NAPs.

Onreports by developed countries, the COP takes note of the
support provided by several developed country Partiesfor activities
related to combatting desertification and notesthe need to clearly
differentiate contributions all ocated for combatting desertification
from other official development assistance. It a so encourages devel-

oped country Partiesto strengthen their effortsto integrate CCD
implementation into ongoing bilateral and multilateral devel opment
cooperation and urges them to support aff ected devel oping country
Partiesin strengthening linkages between the CCD and the other Rio
conventions.

On reportsby UN and intergovernmental organizations, the COP
recommends dissemination of the experiences and lessons|learned
from establishing technical networks between affected countriesto all
relevant fora. It also stresses theimportance of coordination of tech-
nical work between the UN specialized agencies and the Secretariat.
The COP also recogni zesthe special role and contributions of civil
society in theimplementation of measuresto combat desertification
and encourages Partiesto draw upon their capabilities. It further, inter
alia: encourages Partiesto assess and eval uate progressthrough the
use of benchmarks and indicators; requests Parties to take measuresto
ensure that women'’s capacity, particularly at the grassrootslevel, is
reinforced through NAPsand encourages their participation in deci-
sion-making processes; takes note of the COP-3 decision for the CCD
Executive Secretary to report on the need and modalitiesfor the
regional coordinating units; and requeststhe CCD Executive Secretary
and the Managing Director of the Global Mechanism to assist affected
African country Partiesin facilitating consultative processesin order
to negotiate partnership agreements.

ACTIVITIESOF THE SECRETARIAT TO ASSIST DEVEL -
OPING COUNTRY PARTIESIN THE PREPARATION OF
NATIONAL REPORTS: On Thursday, 18 November, CCD Execu-
tive Secretary Diallo introduced the report of the Secretariat to assist
developing country Partiesin the preparation of national reports
(ICCD/COP(3)/5/Add.4 and Inf.3). He highlighted some of the Secre-
tariat’s major activities, including organization of meetings and work-
shopsin each subregion to identify country needs when preparing
NAPsand theintroduction of aNAP help guide for African countries.
No comments were offered from the floor and no decision was taken.

RELATIONSHIPSWITH OTHER RELEVANT CONVEN-
TIONSAND INSTITUTIONS: Discussionsto review activitiesfor
promoting and strengthening rel ationships with other relevant conven-
tionsand international organizations, institutions and agencies (ICCD/
COP(3)/9 and Add.1) took place on Thursday, 18 November. The
Secretariat noted several Memoranda of Understanding with the
conventions on wetlands (Ramsar), climate change (FCCC), and
biodiversity (CBD), aswell as FAO, UNESCO and the arrangements
with the Global Mechanism. The EU underlined theimportance of
continuing to work closely with other conventions and devel oping
methodsto assesswork donein these cooperative arrangements.
Mauritania, on behalf of the G-77/China, said that no one convention
could coordinate the other, but noted that they could benefit from each
other through secretariat interactions. He al so stressed synergiesto
mobilize funding for desertification. Norway encouraged integrating
the information and reporting mechanisms between the FCCC, CBD
and CCD asameans of transparency. The FCCC highlighted opportu-
nitiesfor cooperation with the CCD, which include capacity building
and public awareness activities. Further consultationsensuedin a
group facilitated by Franklin Moore.

The decision on collaboration with other conventionsand interna-
tional bodies (ICCD/COP(3)/L .16) was adopted by the COP on Friday,
26 November. In thisdecision, the COP requests the Executive Secre-
tary to give specia attention to the next CBD COP, which hasonits
agendaaproposal for awork programme on dryland biodiversity, and
to the next FCCC COP, which has on its agendaissuesrel ated to land-
use, land-use change and forestry; and requests the Executive Secre-



Voal. 4 No. 138 Page 7

Monday, 29 November 1999

tary to cooperate with UNEP and the executive secretaries of the other
conventionsto facilitate the exchange of scientific and technical infor-
mation.

HEADQUARTERSAGREEMENT WITH THE GOVERN-
MENT OF GERMANY: On Wednesday, 17 November, the COW
considered arrangementsfor the functioning of the permanent secre-
tariat headquarters agreement with the German Government (ICCD/
COP(3)/8). The Secretariat reported that the headquarters agreement
entered into force on 8 July 1999. On Friday, 26 November, the COP
adopted adraft decision (ICCD/COP(3)/L.5) renewing itsappreciation
to the German Government for its commitment to facilitating the
establishment of the Convention Secretariat in Bonn.

ANNEX FOR CONCILIATION AND ARBITRATION
PROCEDURES: OnWednesday, 17 November, the COW considered
annexes containing arbitration and conciliation procedures (ICCD/
COP(3)/7). The G-77/Chinasupported establishing an open-ended ad
hoc group to examine and make recommendations on thisissue and
called for adecision by COP-4. The EU and others added that the
Secretariat should analyze progressin other relevant conventions and
prepare anew draft proposal on thisissuefor consideration at COP-4.
Theinformal group facilitated by Michael Ellis considered thisissue
further. On Friday, 26 November, the COP adopted adecision (ICCD/
COP(3)/L.4) recommended to it by theinformal group. The COP
recalls Convention articles, which state that the COP shall consider
and adopt proceduresand an institutional mechanism for the resolution
of questionswith regard to implementation. It decidesto convene at
COP-4 an open-ended ad hoc group of expertsto examine and make
recommendations on proceduresfor resolution of questions of imple-
mentation, and annexes on arbitration and conciliation procedures. It
also requeststhe Secretariat to compile the views of Partieson how to
takethe matter forward for consideration at COP-5.

RULE 47 OF RULES OF PROCEDURE: On Wednesday, 17
November, the COP considered Rule 47 of the Rules of Procedure
(ICCD/COP(3)/13), which addresses voting proceduresin the absence
of consensus. Mauritaniaemphasized that the Conventionisapoalitical
organ and needsto find asol ution for adecision-making mechanism as
soon as possible. The EU suggested following progress madein other
conventions on thisissue and proposed deferring any decision until
COP-4. Thedecision on Rule 47 (ICCD/COP(3)/L.20), adopted by the
COP on Friday, 26 November, requeststhe CCD Secretariat to include
consideration of this outstanding rule on the COP-4 agenda.

GLOBAL MECHANISM: The COW began considering the
Global Mechanism on Friday, 19 November. Per Rydén (Global Mech-
anism Managing Director) presented the Review of the Report on Poli-
cies, Operational Modalitiesand Activities of the Global Mechanism
(ICCD/COP(3)/11) and the Operationa Strategy for the Global Mech-
anism (ICCD/COP(3)/CRP.3). He said the Global Mechanism requires
itsown resourcesto fulfill itsfunction of partnership building and to
assist countriesto launch key activities. He noted that IFAD has
provided US$2.5 of the US$10 million it promised when bidding to
host the M echanism and added that the balance will be provided when
other donors make contributions.

In the subsequent discussion, the G-77/Chinacalled for estab-
lishing one staff position for each of the threeregional units: Africa,
Latin American and Caribbean, and Asia. He stressed that the funds
IFAD promised should be released and that the Global Mechanism
should make available acomprehensiveinventory of bilateral and
multilateral financial mechanisms. He hoped the operational strategy
would bediscussed in depth at COP-4. The EU underlined the need for
the Global Mechanism to avoid overlap with the CCD Secretariat and
questioned the Global Mechanism’sinvolvement in technical -oriented

projects. On the operational strategy, he urged the Global Mechanism
to focusonincreasing the effectiveness of existing funding mecha-
nisms and resources. Additional commentsincluded: the need for the
strategy’s principlesto bereflected in the form of concrete action
plans; theimportance of agood communication strategy to inform
Parties about activities; the need for reports on Facilitation Committee
meetings,; and praise for theinclusion of self-evaluationsin the Global
Mechanism’sreport.

The COW aso heard areport by IFAD (ICCD/COP(3)/12 and
Add.1 and CRP4). VeraWeill-Hallé, on behalf of Takao Shibata
(Assistant President of IFAD), highlighted the high priority IFAD
places on desertification and participatory approachesto devel opment
and noted its strong collaboration with NGOs. She also outlined the
work of the Facilitation Committee memberson CCD awareness-
raising and wel comed the recent membership of UNEP and FAO on
the Facilitation Committee.

The G-77/Chinanoted that the report did not indicate what IFAD
was doing to make available the US$100 million it promised for
projectslinked to the Convention. IFAD confirmed itsintention to
devote such fundsto dryland management. Aninformal group facili-
tated by Michael Ellisconsidered theissue further. Delegates
concluded informal consultations on Thursday, 25 November, on a
draft decision for thefirst review of policies, operational modalities
and activities of the Global Mechanism. On Friday, 26 November, the
COP Plenary adopted the draft decision without comment.

Inthefina decision (ICCD/COP(3)/L.12) the COP, inter alia, reaf-
firmsthat the Global Mechanism will function under the guidance of
the COP and be accountableto it, and recognizesthat itsfirst priority is
to become a demand-driven mechanism to facilitate resource mobili-
zation and channeling for the elaboration and i mplementation of action
programmes. On the operational modality, it includes arecommenda-
tion that the Global Mechanism Managing Director complete staff
recruitment before COP-4. It also decidesto havefurther consideration
of the Global Mechanism’s operational strategy at COP-4 and recom-
mends that the Global M echanism should develop aninformation and
communication strategy aimed at facilitating contact with Partiesand
otherstoincrease awareness of the CCD. It further invitesthefacilita-
tion committee to explore the possibility of inviting an NGO represen-
tative to attend its meetings and report to COP-4 on the decision taken
ontheissue.

REVISED DRAFT MEMORANDUM OF UNDER-
STANDING BETWEEN THE COP AND I FAD: On Friday, 19
November, CCD Executive Secretary Diallo introduced the revised
Memorandum of Understanding (M OU) between the COP and IFAD
(ICCD/COP(3)/10). The EU noted its satisfaction with therevised
draft. The G-77/Chinarequested further study of the MOU and sought
clarification on therole of IFAD in mobilizing funds. IFAD said it has
demonstrated its commitment by releasing US$2.5 million and
encouraging the World Bank to supply funds. She said it is not neces-
sarily envisioned that IFAD would mobilize fundsdirectly, but it will
assist, as deemed appropriate by the Global Mechanism. COW Chair
Ashe asked the small group chaired by Franklin Mooreto consult
further onthe MOU.

On Friday, 26 November, adraft decision on the MOU between the
COPand IFAD (ICCD/CCD(3)/L.17) was approved by the COP. In
this decision, the COP notes and approves the annexed revised MOU.
TheMOU statesthat the Global Mechanism will function under the
authority and guidance of the COP and will have a separate identity
within the Fund. It outlinesthe Global Mechanism’sfunctions, status
within IFAD, relationship to the COP, collaborative institutional



Monday, 29 November 1999

Earth NegotiationsBulletin

Vol. 4 No. 138 Page 8

arrangements, field office support and administrative infrastructure. It
alsoincludesfinal provisionsregarding the entry into operation of the
MOU, itsimplementation, termination, amendment and interpretation.

CONSIDERATION OF AN ADDITIONAL REGIONAL
IMPLEMENTATION ANNEX TO THE CONVENTION: Dele-
gates discussed efforts since COP-1 to devel op aregiona implementa-
tion annex for Central and Eastern Europe on Monday and Tuesday,
22-23 November. The background documentation on thisissue
(ICCD/COP(3)/16) outlined these eff orts and contained a draft of the
annex, which is expected to be adopted at COP-4. On Tuesday, 23
November, the COW adopted adraft decision on an additional
regional annex to the COW. Bo Kjellén, who facilitated consultations
onthisissue, said the proposal for an additional annex highlightsthe
Convention’suniversality. The EU and G-77/Chinaencouraged coun-
triesfrom thisregion to accede to the Convention to facilitate adoption
of theannex. TheLatin American and Caribbean Group stated it would
express views regarding Bureau membership once theannex is
adopted and supported equitabl e geographical membership.

The decision adopted on Friday, 26 November (ICCD/COP(3)/
L.19), invitesthe countries of Central and Eastern Europeto continue
consultations on the draft additional implementation annex with a
view to adopting it at COP-4. It a so requeststhe Secretariat, under the
guidance of the Bureau, to arrange the process of consultations on
finalizing the text and invites the countries of the region to continue
their effortstowards accession to the Convention.

COP-4PROGRAMME OF WORK AND VENUE: On
Monday, 22 November, COW Chair John Asheintroduced adraft
decision on the programme of work for COP-4. The draft includes
COP-4 reviewsof, inter alia: reports onimplementation of affected
country Parties; SRAPs and RAPs of regions other than Africa; the
report of the Global Mechanism; CCD implementation financing by
multilateral institutions; activitiesto strengthen relationshipswith
other relevant conventions; and programme and budget. Franklin
Moore was asked to facilitate informal consultations on thisissue. On
Thursday, 25 November, the COW adopted the text of the draft deci-
sion by consensus. The EU commented that the text wasagreedtoin
theinformal group with the understanding that someissuesarising
from other decisions would be taken into account in the work
programme. During adoption by the Plenary on Friday, 26 November,
Argentinaproposed COP-4 consideration of the Recifelnitiative. The
decision on the programme of work (ICCD/COP(3)/L.11) includes,
inter alia, on the agenda of COP-4 and if necessary COP-5: the review
of reports on implementation of affected country Partiesin regions
other than Africa, and other reports on activitiesin those regions;
consideration of an additional regional implementation annex; review
of the report of the Global Mechanism; and review of information
regarding the financing of Convention implementation by multilateral
agenciesand institutions.

On Friday, 26 November, the Plenary adopted a decision on the
date and venue of COP-4 (ICCD/COP(3)/L.15). It was agreed that it
would be held in Bonn, Germany, from 16-27 October 2000, in the
event that no Party makes an offer to host the conference prior to 29
February 2000.

CCDIMPLEMENTATION IN AFRICA: Delegates discussed
reports from affected African country Parties (ICCD/COP(3)/5/Add.2
and A-E) inthe COW on Wednesday, 17 November, followed by a
panel discussion on thisissue on Wednesday and Thursday, 17-18
November. A panel discussion on subregional and regional action
programmesin Africa (ICCD/COP(3)/5/Add.5) also took placeon
Thursday.

General Debate: CCD Executive Secretary Diallo opened the
session by announcing that 80% of African countries had submitted
reports. Many Parties said the national reports provided useful infor-
mation and that other regions could learn from their experienceswhen
formulating their own reports. Japan added that the reports areimpor-
tant for further analysiswhen initiating specific actions.

A number of speakers, including Benin and Burkina Faso,
expressed difficultiesin NAPimplementation dueto lack of resources.
Many countries, including Mali and Cape Verde, called for support
from the Globa Mechanism and other institutionsto help implement
activitiesto combat desertification. The EU stressed the importance of
involving all stakeholdersinthe NAP process and expressed an
interest in enhancing longer-term partnerships based on existing mech-
anisms. Senegal, Morocco and others highlighted the role the public
sector, local communities, regional councils, universities, women and
other stakeholdersplayed in drafting their national reports. The US
noted that NAPimplementation needsto integrate aspects of economic
growth, poverty alleviation and natural resource management, and that
implementation problems need to be better highlighted in the reports.

Panel Discussions of Reports: Delegates continued their consid-
eration of reportsfrom affected African country Partiesduring apanel
discussion chaired by Pierre-Marc Johnson (Canada). Representatives
of each African region gave presentations. Mozambique, on behalf of
the Southern African region, presented measures being takenin the
subregion to ensure NAP implementation, including local-level
capacity building through consultative workshopsand national forums
on desertification. Uganda, on behalf of the East African Region, high-
lighted the need to mainstream desertification issues with other strate-
giesdealing with sustainable devel opment and poverty eradication and
stressed the importance of stakeholder participationinthe NAP
process, particularly women and youth. Chad, speaking for the Central
African region, underlined the difficulties posed by the political insta-
bility in the region, theinadequate financial resources and the absence
of coordinating bodies. Mali, on behalf of the West African region,
said difficultiesin implementing the participatory approach, dueto
varying levels of preparedness, inadequate resources and insufficient
dataavailablefor planning, had constrained the NAP process.

M orocco summarized the report of the Northern African subregion by
underlining theimportance of coordination among key actorsand
participation at thelocal level. He also called for greater cooperation
with the donor community and the need for project funding.

In the discussion that followed, several speakers highlighted the
problem of inadequate financial resourcesand called on the Global
M echanism to assist in mobilizing funds. The EU, with Egypt, Ethi-
opia, BurkinaFaso and others, underlined the importance of partner-
ships.

On Thursday, 18 November, del egates participated in asecond
panel on CCD implementation in Africato discussthematic issues
such as: financing NAPs, participatory approaches, institutional
arrangements, follow-up assessments and benchmarks and indicators.
M ozambique and others emphasi zed that the Global Mechanism
should identify, mobilize and channel adequate financial resources at
thelocal level to ensure CCD implementation. Uganda highlighted the
need for public awareness, appropriate institutional structuresand
enabling environments. Norway, with RIOD-Africa, underscored the
role of women inthe NAP process. Benin noted alack of human
resources and technical meansto implement the active phase of NAPs.
Mali stressed the need to coordinate between different national plans,
policiesand authoritiesto avoid problems of duplication, insufficient
resources and conflicting objectives. The US said NAPs should build
on past initiatives and be harmonized within existing projects and



Vol. 4 No. 138 Page 9

Monday, 29 November 1999

plans. Morocco noted the importance of setting up operational meth-
odologies of assessment systems of benchmarks and indicatorsto
assist decision-makers and international bodiesin assessing progress.
Tunisianoted the need to achievereliable indicatorsto help decision-
makerswith programme implementation. In conclusion, Benin
suggested drafting aresolution to reflect, inter alia, the need to: set up
acommitteeto review national reports; mobilizefinancial resources
and technology transfer; disseminate information on how to access
availableresources and financial mechanisms; adopt better monitoring
and evaluation systems; and have effective partnership arrangements.

Panel Discussion on SRAPsand RAPs: On Thursday, 18
November, a panel was convened to discussthe reports of subregional
and regional action programmes. CCD Executive Secretary Dialosaid
activitiesat the national level could only be meaningful if strengthened
by work at the regional and subregional levels. Egypt drew attention to
the exclusion of countries, including Egypt, the Central African
Republic, Madagascar and Burundi, from the implementation of
subregional programmes since they are not associated with any partic-
ular subregional organization. SADC and IGAD noted their activities
in assisting member Statesto elaborate NAPsand SRAPs. CILSS
outlined its activitiesin West Africaand said that programmes at the
subregional level must meet standardsfor, inter alia: sustainable
management of shared water resources, floraand fauna; rational use of
resources,; technical and scientific cooperation; and coordination of
policiesfor marketing and drought relief. The Arab Maghreb Union
and Mauritaniaunderlined that managing shared resources are better
handled at the subregional level.

CCD Implementation by Developed Country Parties, UN
Organizations, NGOsand | GOs. On Thursday, 18 November,the
COW discussed CCD implementation by developed country Parties,
UN organizations, NGOs and | GOs (ICCD/COP(3)/5/Add.1 and
Add.3). The EU stressed that drought and desertification should be
considered as cross-cutting issuesin all sectorsand highlighted
measures such as donor coordination and long-term partnerships as
waysto further improve support for desertification activities. The
World Bank underscored therole of CCD implementation in poverty
dleviation and stressed the need for partnerships, integrated
approaches to sustai nabl e resource management, effective participa-
tory structuresfor planning at all levels and improved use of existing
channels and resources. UNDP emphasi zed mainstreaming the NAP
processto ensure that its outputs are taken into account in broader
development programmes.

COMMITTEE ON SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

The Committee on Science and Technology (CST) met from 16-19
November. Moses Munemo (Zimbabwe) served as Chair of the CST
and Olanrewaju Smith (Canada), Carlos Vaarezo (Ecuador) and Reza
Hosseinpour Tavani (Iran) served asVice-Chairs. Vice-Chair Valarezo
also served as Rapporteur and, along with Vice-Chair Smith, chaired a
number of small groups during the meeting. The Committee followed
itsagenda (ICCD/COP(3)/CST/1) and devel oped draft decisionson
theroster of independent experts, benchmarks and indicators, tradi-
tional knowledge, early warning systems, the survey and eval uation of
existing networks, and the CST-4 programme of work.

ROSTER OF EXPERTS: On Tuesday, 16 November, CST dele-
gatesdiscussed whether to make recommendationsrelated to the
further development of the roster of independent experts (ICCD/COP/
3/CST/14, Add.1 and Add.1/Corr.1). The Secretariat noted the need
for more balancein terms of gender and disciplinesrepresented by
expertsalready named to the roster. Japan asked about the distinction
between different disciplines specified in the roster, such asbiology,
ecology and botany. France, supported by others, suggested that infor-

mation be supplied on the uses of theroster. A small group chaired by
Vice-Chair Smith considered these issues and devel oped adraft deci-
sion that the CST adopted.

On Thursday, 25 November, the COP adopted the decision on the
Roster of Independent Experts (ICCD/COP(3)/L.1) with no amend-
ments. Thisdecisioninvites Partiesto supplement their submissionsto
the Secretariat for inclusionin theroster, with the aim of making it
more balanced in terms of gender and representation of all relevant
disciplines. It alsoincludes an amended list of disciplines, ascontained
in an annex to the decision, by which expertswill beidentified
according to broad discipline categoriesaswell asaspeciaization
with each category. The Secretariat is requested to ensure that an
updated roster is made availablein electronic format, to distribute a
paper copy of theroster to Parties on an annual basis, and toinform
CST-4 concerning the use that has been made of theroster.

SURVEY AND EVALUATION OF NETWORKS: TheCST
discussed thistopic throughout the week. UNEP presented progresson
Phase 1 (ICCD/COP(3)/CST/4) of the survey and eval uation of
existing networks supporting the implementation of the Convention
and introduced proposalsfor Phase 2. He noted that work in Phase 1
had involved a consortium of 15 agencies, which together had distrib-
uted 5000 questionnairesto existing networks. To date more than 1500
answers had been received and entered into a database managed by the
University of Arizona. He noted that Phase 2 will consider ways of
strengthening networks to improve the implementation of the CCD. In
the subsequent deliberations, Canada and the US suggested that efforts
focus on addressing the problems UNEP identified initsreport on
Phase 1 before beginning Phase 2. Senegal, with Italy and Mexico,
suggested that existing work should be consolidated and |essons
learned highlighted before Phase 2 isinitiated. The Netherlands
commented that no information had been provided on either thelinks
between networks, indigenous knowledge and NAPs, or on how
networks contribute to implementation of convention.

Many countries supported the ideathat Phase 2 should focuson
thematically narrowly focused activitiesat the subregional level. Mali,
Senegal, CIL SS and others suggested that Phase 2 focuson Africaasa
means of encouraging subregional networksand controlling costs.
Belgium, France and the Netherlands stressed the need to limit
expenses.

On Thursday, 25 November, the COP considered the draft decision
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.7). Inthe preambl e of the decision, the EU proposed
specifying that the contractual arrangementswith UNEP pertained to
Phase 1 only. The US proposed specifying that Phase 2 will requirea
pilot approach. The League of Arab States proposed recognizing the
effortsof UNEP and its consortium for their work to date. Thedecision
was adopted with these amendments. The decision specifiesthat Phase
2 will focuson the Southern African region and requests the Secre-
tariat to draft the terms of referencefor Phase 2 for the CST Bureau to
approveat itsintersessional meeting. It also requests UNEP to submit
anupdate of itsreport on Phase 1 and authorizesthe Secretariat to open
the tendering processfor contractorsto implement Phase 2.

BODIESDOING WORK OF RELEVANCE TO THE CST:
Delegateswereinvited to discussthe Secretariat’s updated review of
bodies doing work of relevanceto the CST (ICCD/COP(3)/CSD/5) on
Tuesday, 16 November. The Secretariat noted that the document incor-
porated the only submission, from Jordan, that it had received since
COP-2. Delegates requested the Secretariat to draft adecision calling
for continued updates to the document, but no such draft was subse-
quently discussed or adopted.



Monday, 29 November 1999

Earth NegotiationsBulletin

Vol. 4 No. 138 Page 10

BENCHMARKSAND INDICATORS: Delegates’ discussion of
benchmarks and indicators on Tuesday, 16 November, focused on the
experiences of affected country Partiesand othersin using theindica-
torsidentified through previous CST work, asreported in the national
reports presented to COP-3 (ICCD/COP(3)/5 and Add.1, Add.1(A),
Add.2, Add.2(A)-(E), Add.3, Add.3(A), Add.4 and Add.5). Several
international organizations highlighted regional effortsthey are
involved with to test the indicators. The US and Japan highlighted the
Gambia sreport and itsefforts to apply theindicators. Japan suggested
discussing the type of numerical indicatorsthat could be used to
compare conditionsin different countries. Norway stressed that future
national reporting should give more attention to gender issues.

The COP adopted the decision on benchmarks and indicators
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.2) on Thursday, 25 November. This decision urges
Partiestoinitiatetesting of theimpact indicators proposed by the panel
that acted as a steering committee to the open-ended informal consul-
tative processon benchmarksand indicators. It also encouragesthe use
of theseindicators aswell asthe use of numerical indicatorsthat
enable comparison in national reportsto COP-4. Parties and other
countriesand international organizationsin apositionto do so are
urged to mobilize technical, scientific and financial support for the
affected country Parties and to initiate impact indicator testing.

TRADITIONAL KNOWLEDGE: The CST discussion of tradi-
tional knowledge took place on Thursday and Friday, 17-18
November. The deliberationsfocused on four papers. asynthesis
report on traditional knowledge (ICCD/COP(3)/CST/2), waysand
meansto link the CST’swork on traditional knowledge with similar
work being undertaken by other conventions (ICCD/COP(3)/CST/3/
Add.1), areport on traditional knowledgein dryland ecosystems
(ICCD/COP(3)/CST/3/Add.2) and the report of the Ad Hoc Panel on
Traditional Knowledge (ICCD/COP(3)/CST/3).

Onthe synthesisreport, del egates highlighted the priority of tradi-
tional knowledge and the need for initiativesthat could revivetradi-
tional models. On linkageswith similar work, del egates suggested that
database linkages could be created between conventions and national
focal points could collaborate on thisand related conventions.
Regarding traditional knowledgein dryland ecosystems, delegates
noted the need for gender-sensitive indigenous knowledge networks;
therole that community-based groups could play in bringing actors,
such asfarmers, pastoralists and scientists, together; and the need to
develop agricultural extension staff capacity to takeinto consideration
social, gender and economic aspects of traditional systems. On the Ad
Hoc Panel’ s report, del egates discussed whether to recommend the
reappointment of the Panel. Senegal, Saudi Arabia, Italy and Switzer-
land supported the reappointment, while Denmark, Japan, the Nether-
lands and Belgium opposed it. CST-2 Chair Mohammad Reza Jabbari
(Iran) noted that the CST-2 Bureau, at itsintersessional meeting, had
discussed and endorsed the Panel’srecommendations. Del egates
subsequently adopted text proposed by Japan, Egypt and the Nether-
lands calling for an ad hoc panel and setting out itsterms of reference.

The COP adopted the decision on traditional knowledge (ICCD/
COP(3)/L.3) on Thursday, 25 November. This decision requeststhe
Secretariat to develop acloser working relationship with related insti-
tutions and to generate synergies through collaboration, including
fostering linkages between the national focal pointsof the different
environment conventions and facilitating the dissemination of infor-
mation about actionsto implement the conventions. Partiesareinvited
toincludein their national reportshow traditional knowledgeisusedin
NAPimplementation. The decision also appoints an ad hoc panel to
develop further appropriate criteriain line with future work on bench-
marksand indicators, to be used by national focal points so asto:

measure the reciprocity between traditional and modern knowledge;
assess how networks and mechanisms created by the Secretariat are
incorporating traditional and local knowledgein their work
programmes; and assess the soci 0-economi ¢ and ecol ogical benefits of
traditional knowledgein light of environmental changes.

Theregional groups nominated the following expertsto the ad hoc
panel: Mohammad Jafari (Iran); Falah Abounukta (Syria); Ashot Vard-
evanian (Armenia); Dumitru Mihail (Romania); Amadou Maiga
(Mali); and Etumesaku Diunganumbe (Demaocratic Republic of
Congo); Pietro Laureano (Italy); Corinne Wacker (Switzerland); Nery
Urquiza (Cuba); and Juan Torres Guevara (Peru).

EARLY WARNING SYSTEMS: The CST considered early
warning systems from Wednesday to Friday, 17-19 November. The
Secretariat introduced the background document on existing experi-
ence and institutions working on early warning systems (ICCD/
COP(3)/CST/6). Subsequent discussion focused on the meaning of
early warning systemsand theterms of referencefor aproposed ad hoc
panel of experts. Norway noted that early warning systemsinits
broadest sense should include drought preparedness aswell as soil and
water management, with particular reference to women. Israel high-
lighted the novelty of early warning systemsin combining short-term
drought preparedness and long-term desertification prevention, and in
bringing together social and natural sciences. The US noted theimpor-
tance of integrating short- and long-term data collections. Nigeria
suggested that early warning systemsrequire aclimate information
system, national food production strategies, environmental manage-
ment plansand local water cycle management models. The WMO
noted theimportance of linking the data and observation work of the
CBD, FCCC and CCD. Italy stressed that while space-based technolo-
giesare useful, most data coll ection and management requires only
simpletechnologies. Argentina, Switzerland and others noted the
importance of identifying the end-users of the proposed system and the
purposesit isto serve, and suggested convening agroup to exchange
experiences.

On proposalsto establish an ad hoc panel, Egypt suggested that its
terms of reference should include data and information collection,
management and dissemination and should advise countrieson
drought preparedness measures. Denmark, the Netherlands, Senegal,
Sweden and others stressed the need to link the proposed panel with
CCD implementation, the devel opment of NAPs and existing
networks. France added that accessibility to datashould be considered.
Canadasaid that the technical topics covered by the panel should
emerge from reportsthat were prepared by countries, asfoundin
ICCD/COP(3)/CST/6. Brazil expressed concern that apanel was being
created without clear guidelinesfor itslong-term work.

On Friday, 19 November, delegates discussed adraft decision on
early warning systems “ and desertification monitoring and assess-
ment.” China, Japan, Kenyaand others supported the specification of
“desertification monitoring and assessment.” Nigeria proposed early
warning systems“for desertification monitoring and assessment.
Brazil proposed early warning systems“for drought and desertifica-
tion.” France, Sudan, Switzerland and others supported maintaining
specific reference to early warning systemsonly. The Secretariat
proposed retaining the CST-2 reference to early warning systems*“in
their broadest sense” in thetitle and referring to “ and desertification
monitoring and assessment” in thetext. During final deliberationson
the draft decision, Brazil protested thelack of discussion on the tech-
nical topicsthat the proposed panel would consider.

The COP considered the draft decision on early warning systems
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.6) on Thursday, 25 November. The EU proposed
removing from the terms of reference the call for the panel “to suggest



Vol. 4 No. 138 Page 11

Monday, 29 November 1999

amedium-term strategy for convention implementation.” He said the
call for the panel to “take into account theresults’ of the UN Decade
for Natural Disaster Reduction (UNDNDR) should be replaced with a
call to “cooperate” with thefollow-up to the UNDNDR. The decision
was adopted with these amendments. The regiona groups nominated
the following expertsto the ad hoc panel : Kazuhiko Takeuchi (Japan),
Zengyuan Li (China), Richard Muyungi (Tanzania), Abdelah
Ghebalou (Algeria), Valentin Sofroni (Moldova), Giorgi Gotsiridze
(Georgia), Anneke Trux (Germany), Ali Umran Komuscu (Turkey),
Octavio Perez Pardo (Argentina) and Patricio Aceituno (Chile). The
decision statesthat the ad hoc panel isto review and elaborate on tech-
nical topics emerging from national reportsand regional forums,
specifically concerning: datacollection, accessibility and integration,
evaluation and prediction of drought and desertification in cooperation
with the follow-up to UNDNDR; and dissemination of information to
end-userson the application of early warning systems. Thetext also
invitesrelevant institutionsto provide experts and/or reference mate-
rialsto support the panel and requeststhe Secretariat to facilitateits
functioning.

CST-4 PROGRAMME OF WORK : Delegates discussed the
CST-4 programme of work on Thursday and Friday, 18-19 November.
Denmark, Sweden, the Netherlands and Finland recalled the CST
mandate to advise the COP on how to implement the CCD and
suggested that CST-4 review the national reportswith this objective.
CST-2 Chair Jabbari noted that the CST-2 Bureau suggested water and
soil management, which several speakers supported. Additional
suggestionsincluded linkages between the Rio conventions and
economic indicators. Delegates ultimately agreed to Canada’s sugges-
tion that the examination of soil and water management focus on the
applications of traditional knowledge, indicatorsand early warning
systems monitoring and assessment to the sustai nable management of
soil and water resources for the eff ective implementation of NAPs.

During the COP’s consideration of the draft decision, the EU
proposed that, in addition to thisissue, CST-4 should review the
country reportsregarding implementation in the Asian and Latin
American regionsto alow the CST to giveits scientific and technical
input to the review process, according to paragraph 18 in Decision 11/
COP-1. The CST Chair noted that the Committee had discussed the
decision asdrafted. The EU’s proposal was noted but not added to the
decision.

In the decision on the CST’s programme of work (ICCD/COP(3)/
L.8), the COP decidesthat the priority issue to be addressed in depth
by CST-4 shall be applications of traditional knowledge, benchmarks
and indicators and early warning systemsto the monitoring and assess-
ment of sustainable soil and water management in dryland areasfor
effectiveimplementation of NAPs, taking into account complemen-
tary work done by other conventions. CST-4 will also discussthe
topicson the CST-3 agenda, including benchmarks and indicators,
traditional knowledge and early warning systems. The Secretariat is
requested to facilitate the convening of at least oneintersessional CST
Bureau meeting for the review of COP decisionsand to plan and orga-
nize CST-4.

INTERPARLIAMENTARY ROUND TABLE

From 22-23 November, 37 parliamentarians from 23 countries
participated in asecond round table session to discussthe rolethey
could play in combatting desertification at the national level. Michel
Temer, President of the Brazilian Chamber of Deputies, was el ected
Chair of the discussion. Grant Chapman (Australia), Joachim Tappe
(Germany), Sharon Hay-Webster (Jamaica), Hugo Araujo delaTorre

(Mexico), Abdoulaye Bathily (Senegal) and Jaime Trobo (Interparlia-
mentary Union) served asVice-Presidents and Paul o Jorge (Angola)
served as Rapporteur.

Building on last year’s round table session at COP-2, Parliamentar-
iansdrafted a Recife Declaration to reaffirm their commitment to the
CCD processhy, inter alia: implementing legislation to combat deser-
tification; strengthening educational, scientific and cultural policies
through public awareness campaigns; promoting participation of civil
society, local communities, youth and women; and supporting initia-
tives of international agenciesand donor countriesto mobilize finan-
cial assistance.

The Declaration also notesthat parliaments can play animportant
role through the promotion of interregional, regional and subregional
cooperation and theimprovement of relations between relevant inter-
governmental, non-governmental and community-based organiza-
tions, and by adopting multi-stakeholder action programmesthat
involve international organizations, donor agencies, national institu-
tions, el ected representatives, NGOs and the local population.

The parliamentarians agreed to establish an open-ended high-level
forumto meet at each CCD COPto shareinformation on national initi-
atives. The high-level forumwill: undertake work on effective national
legidation for facilitating the implementation and harmonization of
Convention provisions; submit to their executive branches a proposal
for theinclusion of environmental disciplinesin school curricula;
support the formulation of NAPs; and enhance coordinationin the
implementation of RAPs.

During the closing Plenary del egates took note of the Declaration
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.14) and included it as an annex to the COP-3 report.

CLOSING PLENARY

The COP-3 closing Plenary commenced on Friday morning, 26
November. Sudan said the struggle against poverty is aggravated by
environmental problems, including desertification. He appealed to
donor countriesto alleviate the heavy debts of devel oping countriesto
enablethem to combat desertification more effectively. He expressed
hope that the Global Mechanism and Secretariat will be strengthened
so they can support devel oping countries.

Delegates adopted without comment the report on the credentials
of delegations (ICCD/COP(3)/19) and the Western Europe and Others
Group’sand the Latin American and Caribbean Group’s nominations
tothe CST’sad hoc panelson traditional knowledge and early warning
systems. The meeting was then suspended to allow delegatesto
completeinformal consideration of draft decisions on outstanding
issues, including the budget, procedures for the review of implementa-
tion, and arbitration and compliance.

At 11:20 pm, the Plenary reconvened and proceeded to adopt by
consensus decisionson:

» theMedium-Term Strategy of the Secretariat (ICCD/COP(3)/

L.10);

« collaboration with other relevant conventions and international
bodies (ICCD/COP(3)/L.16);

« the programme of work of COP-4 (ICCD/COP(3)/L.11);

« theadditional regional implementation annex to the Convention

(ICCD/COP(3)/L.19);

« proceduresfor arbitration and conciliation (ICCD/COP(3)/L.4);
and
* the Globa Mechanism (ICCD/COP(3)/L.12).

The COP also adopted without comment, the report of the Parlia-
mentarian’s Round Table (ICCD/COP(3)/L.14) and the Memorandum
of Understanding between the COP and IFAD on the Globa Mecha-
nism (ICCD/COP(3)/L.17). The Chair of the closing Plenary Session,



Monday, 29 November 1999

Earth NegotiationsBulletin

Voal. 4 No. 138 Page 12

Victor Louro (Portugal), drew attention to the draft decision on the
programme and budget for 20002001 recommended to the COP
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.18.Rev.1 and Add. 1) , and said it had been revised
and accepted by all Partiesinvolved in theinformal consultations. The
Plenary adopted the decision.

On enhancing the participation of NGOsin the work of the COP
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.24), the EU said consultations on the draft decision
had been held with NGOs and he recommended that the COP adopt it.
It was adopted by consensus.

Delegates adopted the draft decision on the date and venue of COP-
4 (1CCD/COP(3)/L.15), following which Germany thanked the COP
for the decision and conveyed amessage of welcome from the Mayor
of Bonn. Mauritania, on behalf of the G-77/China, noted that in the
absence of an offer to host the COPR, itisto be held at the seat of the
Secretariat and asked if Germany’s welcome was an offer to host.

The COP aso adopted the Recife I nitiative towards enhancing the
implementation of the CCD (ICCD/COP(3)/L.22). Argentina noted
that the initiative highlights the need for adeclaration or statement of
the commitments and requested including thisin the decision on the
programme of work for COP-4 (ICCD/COP(3)/L.11).

The Plenary adjourned briefly to await completion of informal
consultations on the consideration of reports on CCD implementation
and of additional procedures or institutional mechanismsto assist the
COPinregular review of the Convention.

Delegatesthen adopted the draft decision on the review of the
implementation of the Convention (ICCD/COP(3)/L.23), following
which the EU noted that the decision recallsthat reports by Parties,
together with advice and information provided by the CST and the
Global Mechanism, shall constitute the basis of thereview of imple-
mentation by the COP. He asked the Secretariat to keep thisdecisionin
mind when setting the CST-4 agenda. Benin noted that the advice and
information of the CST and Globa Mechanism providejust one
element of the advice and information for COP consideration.

Delegates then adopted decisions on consideration of reportson
implementation of the Convention (ICCD/COP(3)/L.13) and an
expression of gratitude to the Government and people of Brazil
(ICCD/COP(3)/L.21). Brazil said it was honored to receive so many
representatives from the international community and hoped that all
who had attended had felt at home. Delegates adopted the report of
COP-3 (ICCD/COP(3)/L.9) with the understanding that it would
include the meeting’ sdecisionsand with acorrection noting that, in his
capacity as Chair of the COW, John Ashewasinvited to attend Bureau
meetings, rather than theindication, as drafted, that he was designated
an ex officio member of the Bureau.

Peru, on behalf of the Latin American and Caribbean Group, noted
itspride that acountry in the region hosted the meeting and said his
region looksforward to its sixth regional meeting, which will bein El
Salvador. The EU noted that its member States are now more aware
that the fight against desertification must be intensified, although it
wasnot yet part of mainstream devel opments strategiesasit should be.

South Africa, on behalf of the Valdivia Group, noted that the group
was established to learn from each other’s experiences with combat-
ting desertification and mitigating drought. Iran, on behalf of the Asian
Group, noted that hisregion attaches great importance to the Conven-
tion and itsimplementation in all regions. He called on donorsto
support affected regions with technical, technological and financial
resources.

The G-77/Chinareminded delegatesthat it isthe plight and expec-
tationsof the billion peopl e affected by drought and desertification that
were at the center of this Convention. Benin, on behalf of the African
Group, reminded del egatesthat Africawas behind theinitiative

leading to the drafting, adoption and ratification of the Convention and
will continue to show political commitment by making the CCD a
priority.

Romanianoted the Central and East European region’sgratitude
for the decision regarding the additional regional implementation
annex. Executive Secretary Diallo congratul ated the representatives of
al Partiesfor the necessary compromisesthey had achieved. He
pledged to make the most out of the options that the COP’sdecisions
provide, said hewill remain aslong asall are satisfied that thereis
something to be gained, and promised to strive toward providing more
efficient servicesto the Parties.

A representative of the NGOs welcomed the two dia ogues held
during the conference, stating that these reflected the goodwill of al
Parties. He hoped thiswould be reflected in the qualitative and quanti-
tative participation of NGOs at future meetings.

Executive Secretary Diallo read amessage from COP-3 President
Sarney Filho, who welcomed the agreement reached by Partieson
crucial issues. He noted the agreement on the Recife Initiative, which
he said allows for the adoption of adeclaration at COP-4 to strengthen
the implementation of the Convention, highlightsthe need for indica-
torsof the effectiveness of effortsto combat desertification, and helps
raisethe sameinterest in desertification asthat given to the other Rio
conventions. Sarney Filho welcomed the African country reports,
which will bevery useful to countries submitting reports at the next
COP. The Chair declared COP-3 officially closed at 2:10 am, Saturday,
27 November 1999.

A BRIEF ANALYSIS OF COP-3

Delegatesarrived at COP-3 in Recifeto address many unresolved
issuesthat the Harmattan winds of COP-2in Dakar, Senegal, had
blown acrossthe Atlantic. A lack of momentum plagued the confer-
encefrom the outset, in part due to the humidity of thetropics, but
moreto do with having to tackle several unresolved thorny issues
trailing them from COP to COP.

COP-3 will beremembered for itslong and difficult negotiations
on the budget aswell as on proceduresto review implementation.
Tensionsand mistrust between negotiators pervaded these talks and
provoked expressions of concern that they might even spell the end of
the CCD. COP-3 will aso be remembered for missing the opportunity
to capitalize onitsfirst chanceto identify best practices and shared
experiences based on national reports. Asthe dust beginsto settle, itis
timeto take stock of the meeting, itstension points and missed oppor-
tunitiesand implicationsfor the future of the CCD.

Many del egates expected to focustheir attention on the review of
CCD implementation at the national level. At the outset, the EU
expressed its position that discussions should focus on the national
reports onimplementation in Africaand that the COP should avoid the
“distraction” of issuesof “lesser importance,” such asestablishment of
new structures and undertaking additional tasks under the Convention.

For many participants at COP-3, the compl etion and submission of
nearly 80% of the African national reportswas areassuring sign of the
importance that affected countries attach to the CCD. In most cases,
these reportswere prepared with the full participation of stakeholders
at both thelocal and national levels. They demonstrated the forging of
fruitful relationships between government and civil society and the
multiple benefitsthat can accrue from implementing the National
Action Plans (NAPs); benefitsthat transcend drylands management
and contribute to democratization, gender empowerment and institu-
tional and capacity building. It isclear that thereisawealth of experi-
ence and lessons that can be used by other countriesin other regions
when preparing their NAPs. An overarching concern, noted in many



Voal. 4 No. 138 Page 13

Monday, 29 November 1999

reports, was the lack of adequate resourcesto fully implement the
NAPs. Many countries reported difficulty in accessing financial
resources, thelack of coordination between donor agenciesand activi-
tiesin meeting CCD commitments, and stressed the need to address
thesedifficulties.

Unfortunately, these elementswerenot fully brought out during the
Plenary discussions. Many relevant actors were occupied with
informal negotiationsand could not fully participate and severa
reported that the limited consideration even extended to alack of bilat-
eral exchangesin the corridors regarding affected and donor country
reports. Critics said amore thorough analysis of thereports could have
provided substantive input upon which to base decisions and ease
negotiations on the budgets of the Secretariat and the Global Mecha-
nism aswell ason the possibility of establishing acommitteetoreview
implementation. Thisfailureto grasp the opportunity aspresentedin
its agenda meant COP-3 missed aturning point from establishing the
CCD structureto focusing on itsimplementation. Some of the reasons
given for thefailureinclude thelack of transparency in how theissues
were addressed, the absence of institutional memory in the processand
the growing uncertainty over the political will and commitment of
developed countriesto the CCD.

Thelast week of COP-3 was punctuated by moments of uncer-
tainty resulting from delegates’ inability to reach decisionsinthe
informal groups convened to consider al of the COW agendaitems.
Many delegatesfelt that the rush to defer consideration of most COW
agendaitemsto these groups excluded the participation of those who
were not only new to the process but al so knew little about the proce-
duresof thismode of working. Thisover-reliance on small groups|eft
many del egates uninformed asto the major debates and progressin the
negotiations, and they wereleft to contempl ate the lack of transpar-
ency inthe corridors. They said the absence of an exchangein the
COW Plenary denied del egations an opportunity to present their polit-
ical viewpointsand madeit difficult for them to get abroader sense of
theissues.

Three additional examples cited aslacking transparency contrib-
uted to sentiments of mistrust and doubt during the two weeks. One
critical moment was the hurried gaveling by the COW Chair, over the
objections of the EU, of adraft decision on the budget. Many del egates
guestioned the rationale for thisaction, considering that the budget
presented in the draft decision had not been agreed to in the informal
consultations. Some said this“imposition” of adecision contravened
standard UN procedure and undermined the spirit of consensus that
has prevailed since Rio. The level of mistrust increased with the
reported discovery during informal negotiationsof discrepanciesinthe
figures presented in the draft budget decision, with the error resulting
in adisappearance of US$225,000 from the Global Mechanism for
each year in the biennium, which was not accounted for el sewhere.
Additional concernswere expressed over the reported misrepresenta-
tion, by some Parties, of their positionsduring the informal negotia-
tions. Constant changesin some presentations regarding the elements
they could accept were viewed by othersas an attempt to avoid
reaching agreement and frustrated negotiators who weretrying to find
aconstructive middle-way. These factors made many actorsfeel less
willing to compromise and contributed to a sense that commitment to
the process was declining.

The absence of high-level participation, especially by OECD coun-
triesaswell asfrom regions other than Africa, also sent shiversof
concern down the corridors. Some saw thisasasign of thelow priority
given to the Convention in the North aswell asthe notion among other
affected countriesthat COP-3 was an African-centered meeting and
they were thuswaiting for their turn at COP-4 to focus on their experi-

ences. The multitude of new facesto the process also provoked expres-
sions of concern asto how the working partnership that has devel oped
sincethe early stages of the INCD would be maintained and whether
the newcomers would honor ongoing debatesin the process. Some
participants said that the new expectations and ideal sthese newcomers
brought held back the process, sincethey failed to reflect detail s of
delicate compromises made at earlier COPs. Thelossof institutional
memory was most apparent during discussions on the establishment of
acommittee to review Convention implementation (CRIC). The G-77/
Chinaproposed the establishment of the CRIC in Rome and Dakar, but
even though the related decisions stated that thiswould be discussed at
COP-3, devel oped country counterpartswere not prepared to discuss
thisissue.

Much of the delay in reaching agreement was al so attributed to the
relatively low level of decision-making authority among some delega-
tionsand, asaresult, their need to constantly consult with their capitals
on new proposals. Some saw this as one reason underlying the
apparent “ shifting of goalposts’ whenever consensus appeared within
reach. Thesetwo factors—thelack of high-level representation and the
large number of new negotiators— combined to create aleadership
void, and had acritical impact on the negotiationsin theinformal
groups. Optimists noted that changeisinevitable and that it takestime
for new leadersto emerge. Nonetheless, few in Recife were ableto
provide sound |eadership and some delegates’ concernswith the
Secretariat’sinterpretation of its mandate, and its apparent attemptsto
undertake more operational activitiesthan authorized, precluded their
search for direction from that end.

Thefina outcome of the COP was not remarkable, largely because
of the negotiating atmosphere. Even though many decisionswere for
the most part satisfactory, the COP did not advance the Convention’s
work onimplementation other than to identify limited changesto be
made at COP-4 and once again to put off serious decisions on many of
theissues.

With time, participants may cometo view COP-3 asan awakening
tothereality that Parties must eval uate their commitment to the CCD
and remain constantly vigilant to the state of the partnership. Themain
lessonsrelate to the need for good leadershipin directing Parties
deliberations, transparency inthe work of the Partiesand aneed to
maintain an open and honest negotiating atmospherein order to foster
constructive progress. While COP-3 | ost someimportant opportunities
tolearn from the national experiences, it may have acquired more
valuable lessonsfrom its shortcomings. It isthe hope of many that
delegationswill arrive at COP-4 charged to work more constructively
onthe agendabefore them and to grasp the myriad of benefitsto social,
environmental, economic and political development, that are possible
through implementation of this Convention.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR BEFORE COP-4

INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM ON SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT IN SEMI-ARID REGIONS (WORLD SEMI-
ARID "99): Thissymposium will meet in Jodo Pessoa, Paraiba, Brazil,,
from 29 November-2 December 1999. For information, contact:
Dorival C. Bruni, President of the Brazilian Society for the Environ-
ment (BIOSFERA), PO. Box 2432, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, CEP, 20001-
970; tel: +55-21-252-1631; fax: +55 21-221-0155; e-mail: bios-
fera@biosfera.com.br; Internet: http://www.biosfera.com.br.

THIRD CONFERENCE ON DESERTIFICATION AND
ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES: Thisconferencewill convenein
Saudi Arabiafrom 30 November-4 December 1999. For moreinfor-
mation, contact: UNCCD Secretariat, PO. Box 260129, Haus



Monday, 29 November 1999

Earth NegotiationsBulletin

Voal. 4 No. 138 Page 14

Carstanjen, D-53153 Bonn, Germany, tel: +49-228-815-2800; fax:
+49-228-815-2898/99; e-mail: secretariat@unccd.de; Internet: http://
www.unccd.de.

THIRD AFRO-ASIAN FORUM ON INTERREGIONAL
COOPERATION FORTHEIMPLEMENTATION OF THE
CCD: ThisForum isscheduled to convene in January 2000. For more
information, contact the UNCCD Secretariat (see above).

FIRST INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM AND WORK -
SHOP ON ARID ZONE ENVIRONMENTS: These meetingswill
be held from 23-25 January 2000 in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates.
For moreinformation contact: Environmental Research and Wildlife
Development Agency, Abu Dhabi, UAE; tel: +971-241-441; fax:
+971-241-4131; e-mail: alghais@emirates.net.ae.

FIFTH MEETING OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR
SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL
ADVICE OF THE CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVER-
SITY: SBSTTA-5will be held from 31 January-4 February 2000 in
Montreal, Canada. | ssuesrelated to the CCD to be addressed include
dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland, savannah and agri-
cultural biological diversity. For moreinformation, contact: Secre-
tariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, World Trade Centre,
393 St. Jacques Street, Office 300, Montreal, Quebec, CanadaH2Y
INO9; tel: +1-514-288-2220; fax: +1-514-288-6588; e-mail: secre-
tariat@biodiv.org; Internet: http://www.biodiv.org.

FOURTH AND FINAL SESSION OF THE INTERGOVERN-
MENTAL FORUM ON FORESTS(IFF): Thismeetingwill be held
from 31 January-11 February 2000in New York. For moreinforma-
tion, contact: |FF Secretariat, 2 UN Plaza, 12th Floor, New York, NY
10017 USA; tel: +1-212-963-3401; fax: +1-212-963-3463; e-mail:
hurtubia@un.org; Internet: http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/
forests.htm.

SECOND AFRICAN-LATIN AMERICAN AND CARIB-
BEAN FORUM ON IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CCD: This
Forum is scheduled to meet in February 2000 in Bamako, Mali. For
more information, contact the UNCCD Secretariat (see above).

INTERSESSIONAL AD HOCWORKING GROUPSOF THE
UN COMMISSION ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT:
These meetings will be held from 28 February-10 March 2000 in New
York and will focus on issuesincluding land management, agriculture,
forests and the outcomes of the I ntergovernmental Forum on Forests.
For moreinformation, contact: Andrey Vasilyev, Division for Sustain-
able Development, UN Plaza, Room DC2-2220, New York, NY
10017, USA; tel: +1-212-963-5949; fax: +1-212-963-4260; e-mail:
vasilyev@un.org; Internet: http://www.un.org/esa/sustdev/csd.htm.

LAUNCHING OF TPN2 (AGROFORESTRY AND SOIL
CONSERVATION): Thismeeting of Thematic Programme Network
2isscheduled for February 2000 in New Delhi, India. For moreinfor-
mation, contact the UNCCD Secretariat (see above).

LAUNCHING OF TPN3 (RANGELAND MANAGEMENT
AND FIXATION OF SAND DUNES): Thismeeting of Thematic
Programme Network 3 is scheduled for March 2000 in Tehran, Iran.
For moreinformation, contact the UNCCD Secretariat (see above).

SECOND WORLD WATER FORUM AND MINISTERIAL
CONFERENCE: Thismeeting will be held from 17-22 March 2000
in The Hague, The Netherlands. The conferenceis co-organized by the
World Water Council and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs. For
moreinformation contact: Ministry of Foreign Affairs, EB TheHague,
The Netherlands, tel: +31-70-348-5402; fax: +31-70-348-6792; e-
mail: secretariat@worldwaterforum.org; Internet: http://www.world-
waterforum.org.

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON THE CONSERVATION
OF BIODIVERSITY IN ARID REGIONS: Thismeeting will be
convened from 27-29 March 2000 in Kuwait. Contact: Mohammad
Al-Sarawi, Chairman, PO Box 24395, Safat, Kuwait 13104; tel: +965-
565-0554; fax: +965-565-3328; e-mail: muna@epa.org.kw.

AD HOCWORKING GROUP ON ARTICLE 8(J): This
meeting will be held from 27-31 March 2000 in Seville, Spain, to
addresstraditional knowledge. For moreinformation, contact the
Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (see above).

EIGHTH SESSION OF THE COMMISSION ON SUSTAIN-
ABLE DEVELOPMENT: CSD-8 will meet from 24 April to5May
2000in New York, to consider integrated planning and management of
land resources, agriculture, and financial resources/trade and invest-
ment/economic growth. For information, contact: Andrey Vasilyev,
Division for Sustainable Development, UN Plaza, Room DC2-2220,
New York, NY 10017, USA; tel: +1-212-963-5949; fax: +1-212-963-
4260; e-mail: vasilyev@un.org; Internet: http://www.un.org/esal/
sustdev/csd.htm.

FOURTH BIENNIAL CONGRESSOF THE AFRICAN
DIVISION OF THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR
HYDROLOGIC ENGINEERING AND RESEARCH: Entitled
"Conserving and Sharing Water Resourcesin aWater Scarce Environ-
ment" this meeting will be held from 7-9 June 2000 in Windhoek,
Namibia. Topicscovered include: groundwater supplies, water
demand management, desalination, wastewater treatment, rain
harvesting, the seaas a source, international cooperation and environ-
mental problemsin arid countries. For moreinformation, contact: Kai
A.H. Lund, Congress Chairman, Lund Consulting, PO. Box 3106,
Windhoek, Namibia; fax: +264-612-3478; e-mail: |ce@lce.com.na;
Internet:

FOURTH SESSION OF THE CONFERENCE OF THE
PARTIESTO UN CONFERENCE TO COMBAT DESERTIFI-
CATION: COP-4 istentatively scheduled to meet from 16-27 October
2000 in Bonn, Germany. For more information, contact the UNCCD
Secretariat (see above).



